IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 74,471

MICHAEL MCK. WILSON, ETC., ET AL., Appellees.

ON APPEAL OF ORDERS NOS. 20825 AND 21448 IN FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOCKET NO. 881416-EG; PETITION OF TAMPA ELECTRIC COMPANY

> INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

> > Jack Shreve Public Counsel Fla. Bar No. 0073622

John Roger Howe Assistant Public Counsel Fla. Bar No. 253911

Office of Public Counsel c/o The Capitol 111 W. Madison Street Room 801 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1400

904/488-9330

Attorneys for the Citizens of the State of Florida

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Tampa Electric Company (TECO) petitioned the Florida Public Service Commission (PSC) for permission to change the manner in which it recovered the expenses of its conservation programs. TECO wanted to stop charging its industrial customers taking service pursuant to interruptible rate schedules and collect the resulting shortfall from its remaining "firm" customers who were projected to pay an additional \$2 million per year. The PSC approved TECO's petition in Order No. 20825, issued March 1, 1989, in Docket No. 881416-EG. (A-1). The altered recovery procedure is in effect for the period April 1, 1989, through March 31, 1990.

The Citizens of the State of Florida, through the Office of Public Counsel, intervened and filed a motion for reconsideration of Order No. -20825 on March 16, 1989. That motion was denied in Order No. 21448 on June 26, 1989. [A-61. This appeal was filed on July 26, 1989.

Pursuant to the enactment of the Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act (FEECA), Section 366.80, et. seq., Florida Statutes, in 1980, the PSC evaluated conservation programs of electric utilities designed to reduce peak electric usage and overall electric consumption. The costs of approved programs were allowed to be recovered through a conservation cost recovery factor. The factor was derived by dividing the expenses of approved conservation programs by the kilowatt-hours (KWH) of sales projected for a six-month period. Over- and underrecoveries were

used to adjust succeeding projection periods. The projection periods for conservation cost recovery coincide with the projection periods for fuel cost recovery so that, every six months, the PSC approves billing factors for the investor-owned electric utilities under its jurisdiction. Since its inception in **1980**, the conservation cost recovery factor has been imposed on all customer classes.

Tampa Electric Company's Petition for Modification of its Conservation Cost Recovery Methodology was filed with the PSC on October 28, 1988. [A-11]. In its petition, TECO noted that it applied an energy conservation cost recovery factor on bills rendered to all its customers but asked that those taking interruptible service under rate schedules IS-1, IST-1, IS-3, and IST-3 and standby interruptible customers under schedules SBI-1 and SBI-3 be excluded from further cost recovery factors. The PSC was asked to approve the petition "for immediate implementation."

[A-14] TECO would discontinue charges for interruptible customers and "[t]he shortfall would be collected as a true-up component of the conservation cost recovery factor applied in the next six-month cost recovery period." TECO appended a revised tariff sheet to its petition as Exhibit A and another one in legislative format as Exhibit B. The effect of TECO's proposal would be to "apply the energy conservation cost recovery clause only to each kilowatt hour delivered to Customers taking firm service." [A-14].

TECO asserted in its petition that exempting interruptible

customers "would comport with the goals of the Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act." [A-12]. TECO characterized the second FEECA goal and its applicability to the utility as follows:

The second FEECA goal, reducing the growth rate of electric consumption, is directed at lowering the difference between marginal fuel costs and average fuel costs. This does not apply on an energy basis for Tampa Electric because the company's marginal fuel costs are lower than average system fuel costs charged out. <u>Since</u> <u>Tampa Electric is able to Purchase less expensive coal</u> on the spot market, it is not beneficial to reduce <u>overall energy usage</u>. Reducing overall energy usage would reduce the percentage of spot coal generation and thereby increase the unit cost of fuel borne by the company's Customers. The company expects marginal fuel costs to be lower than average fuel costs for the next five to six years. (Emphasis added). [A-12].

TECO closed its analysis of its proposal by stating:

Based on the foregoing, the <u>company's proposed</u> <u>modification</u> of its conservation cost recovery methodology <u>is entirely consistent with existing FEECA</u> <u>conservation goals</u>, (Emphasis added). [A-13],

TECO's petition was assigned Docket No. 881416-EG. The PSC clerk sent a memorandum dated November 17, 1988 to "All Interested Persons" transmitting a case-assignment-and-scheduling-record (CASR) "approved by the Chairman." (A-19). The docket had been assigned to **"all"** commissioners for disposition. (A-20). A revised schedule dated December 14, 1988, specified that PSC staff members would file their recommendation on January 19, 1989; the Commission would consider it as a proposed agency action (PAA) item at its January 31, 1989 agenda conference; the "PAA order" would issue on February 20, 1989; and the final order would issue on March 13, 1989, after expiration of the 21 days in which affected persons were allowed to file a protest to the Commission's proposed

action. [A-21,221. The docket would close on April 14, 1989, upon expiration of the 30-day period in which to file a notice of appeal.

The PSC staff members assigned to the case filed their joint recommendation, designated "PROPOSED AGENCY **ACTION,"** to approve TECO's petition on January 11, 1989. (A-23). A memorandum dated January 20, 1989, transmitted an excerpt of the January 31, 1989, agenda and advised anyone who **"may** wish to attend the conference and address the Commission regarding this matter" that **"[a]ny** comments you wish to make should be limited to approximately five minutes." (A-24). The agenda excerpt showed the item number to be **"8**PAA."** (A-25). The notice on the first page of the agenda itself informed of the meaning of the symbols and letters that followed the number 8:

* NOTICE *

Persons who may be affected by Commission action on certain items on this agenda for which a hearing has not been held (other than actions on interim rates and declaratory statements) will be allowed to address the Commission concerning those items when taken up for discussion at this conference. These items are designated by double asterisks next to the agenda item number.

Certain matters brought before the Commission for "Proposed Agency Action" are included in the above category, and affected persons may similarly address the Commission regarding them: such items are identified by the added symbol "PAA." [R-31].

The Florida Administrative Weekly notice for the agenda conference stated its purpose to be **"To** consider those matters ready for **decision."** The notice also stated that a copy of the agenda could be obtained from the PSC and that **"[p]ersons** who may be affected

by Commission action on certain items...will be allowed to address the Commission concerning those items when taken up for discussion at this conference." [A-26].

Three people participated in the agenda conference discussion with four of the five Commissioners (Commissioner Gunter was absent), in addition to four PSC staff members. **[A-28].** They were Mr. Kordecki, a TECO employee; Mr. Willis, TECO's attorney; and Mr. McWhirter, an attorney representing the Florida Industrial Power Users Group (FIPUG) which is comprised of some of TECO's large industrial customers who would benefit from TECO's petition being granted. The Office of Public Counsel did not participate in the agenda conference discussion.

Mr. Kordecki summarized TECO's petition and characterized the effect of fuel costs on conservation as follows:

We have found ourselves at this time to be in a position where our marginal fuel costs are less than our average fuel costs, so at this point we do not build peaking capacity for interruptible customers. In fact we do not build capacity at all for interruptible customers. Actually with our marginal fuel cost being less than our average fuel cost, the effect of conservation programs that reduce consumption actually raise the fuel adjustment. [A-28].

Later, he said that fuel **costs** would have been lower throughout the **1980-1988** time period if there had been no conservation programs. [A-35-36].

The Commission voted to approve the staff recommendation without modification. [A-42]. The order was scheduled to be filed on February 20, 1989. [A-22].

In the meantime, a prehearing conference was held on February

10, 1989 before Commissioner Herndon in the conservation cost recovery docket, Docket No. 890002-EG, in which the Commission approves specific recovery factors for six-month projection periods. At the prehearing conference, which was attended by Mr. Howe from the Public Counsel's office, TECO's attorney, Mr. Beasley, announced that "the Commission on January 31st voted to approve Tampa Electric's request to have an adjustment to its conservation cost recovery methodology." (A-55-56). He suggested that all parties stipulate to the factor previously proposed by TECO and that Mr. Kordecki

appear at the hearing to explain that adjustment [resulting from the Commission's January 31st vote], and that that be the only issue to be addressed at the hearing for Tampa Electric Company, but that we would file the adjustment prior to the hearing so everybody can look at it."

A PSC staff member, Mr. Dean, responded:

That's fine. We'll make sure the numbers are right and don't have to deal with it. [A-56],

Hearings were held in the conservation cost recovery docket on February 22, 1989 before the three-member panel. Mr. Howe appeared for the Office of Public Counsel. The order on TECO's petition, which was scheduled to issue two days earlier, on February 20, 1989, had not been filed. At the conservation cost recovery hearing, Mr. Howe stipulated to the accuracy of TECO's revised billing factor.

On March 1, 1989, Order No. 20825 issued as a final order entitled: Order Approving Modification of Conservation Cost Recovery Methodology. Order No. 20825 did not offer affected

persons an opportunity to request a hearing.

The Commission observed in its order that TECO has eleven approved conservation programs with estimated annual program expenditures for 1989 of \$14,653,807. The exclusion of interruptible sales from recovery of these expenses would require the remaining firm customers to pay **"an** additional \$0.20 per 1000 KWH or \$2,129,198 per year." [A-1].

TECO's assertion that its petition satisfied the three FEECA goals was evaluated and the utility's position with respect to the second FEECA goal was explicitly rejected, although then dismissed as irrelevant:

TECO argues that the second FEECA goal, reducing the growth rate of electric consumption, is directed at lowering the difference between marginal fuel costs and This does not currently apply to average fuel cost. TECO's system because their marginal fuel costs are lower than the system average fuel cost, due to the purchases and use of less expensive spot coal. Reducing overall energy usage decreases the average cost of fuel borne by TECO's customers. TECO projects marginal fuel costs to be lower than average for the next five to six years. We do not agree with TECO's interpretation of the second FEECA soal. We believe a strict reading of this aoal requires TECO to reduce the nominal quantities of fuels burned, not the price differential. However, whatever the interpretation of FEECA, this issue has no relevance to the relief requested here. (Emphasis added). [A-3],

Instead of granting TECO's request that the recovery method be changed immediately, the Commission ordered it to begin April

1, 1989 and stay in force for only one year:

After a thorough review of the record, we agree with our Staff and approve the removal of TECO's interruptible customers from the conservation cost recovery clause for the period April 1, 1989 to March 31, 1990.

Therefore, it is.

ORDERED by the Florida Public Service Commission that the October 28, 1988 petition of Tampa Electric Company for approval of Modifications to Rate Schedules IS-1, IST-1, IS-3, IST-3, SB-1 and SB-3 excluding the application of the energy conservation cost recovery factor from those schedules be and is hereby granted. It is further

ORDERED that these tariff modifications will be effective for the period April 1, 1989 to March 31, 1990. [A-4],

Public Counsel filed a Notice of Intervention [R-54] and a motion for reconsideration of Order No. 20825 on March 16, 1989. [A-43]. In the motion, Public Counsel argued that everything in the docket indicated a proposed agency action order would issue, not a final order. Because TECO's request would saddle firm customers with an additional \$2 million of conservation costs, a clear point of entry into the agency process had to be provided pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), Chapter 120, Florida Statutes.

Public Counsel also asserted that, although the opportunity for reconsideration was inadequate to protect the firm customers' interests, even under that standard Order No. 20825 had to be rescinded. (A-46-47). It was Public Counsel's position that the Commission's order contravened FEECA on two separate grounds: (1) it resulted in discriminatory rates prohibited by FEECA, and (2) it violated the FEECA goal "to reduce the growth rates of electric consumption." (A-47-50).

TECO responded in opposition to the motion, noting that it and the Commission staff participated in the January 31, 1989 agenda conference discussion which preceded the vote but that

"Public Counsel elected not to provide input." (A-51). TECO also stated that Public Counsel actively participated in the February 10, 1989 prehearing conference in the conservation docket where TECO, through counsel, "advised participants that in light of the Commission's vote in Docket No. 381416-EG, Tampa Electric would be resubmitting its conservation factor to reflect that vote. . . . The Staff indicated they would verify the recalculation by Tampa Electric." (A-51).

TECO said that staff indicated at the February 22, 1989 hearing that "it was satisfied with Tampa Electric's resubmission" which "was stipulated without objection by any party, including Public Counsel." TECO further asserted:

Order No. 20825 was issued in Docket No. 881416-EG on March 1, 1989 or approximately nine days after the hearing in the conservation cost recovery factor. Public Counsel fully participated in the conservation cost recovery proceeding and should not now be heard to object to the cost reallocation which was voted on on January 31, 1989 and which was later stipulated to in the conservation cost recovery docket. Tampa Electric is entitled to rely upon Public Counsel's participation in the stipulated reallocation in Docket No. 890002-EG in going forward with the reallocation cost recovery factor during the April-September 1989 period. [A-52].

TECO did not address the APA arguments raised by Public Counsel's motion. On the FEECA issues, TECO said "it appears Public Counsel misconstrues Section 366.81, Fla. Stat." because "[t]he Commission's reallocation of Tampa Electric's conservation cost recovery does not discriminate against any Customer.,.." (A-52-53). TECO did not discuss whether its proposal violated the FEECA goal to reduce KWH consumption except to say:

The remainder of Public Counsel's Motion is somewhat

confusing but appears to suggest that the Commission's action in this docket somehow conflicts with the FEECA goals. Public Counsel's arguments at pages 6-8 of its Motion do not set forth any basis for reconsideration of the reallocation approved by the Commission but instead represent perceptions by Public Counsel which have no bearing on the propriety of the action which the Commission approved. [A-53].

FIPUG filed an "Amicus Curiae Response" to Public Counsel's motion (R-73) in which it stated that

FIPUG, like Public Counsel, is not a party to this docket. Consumers have no standing at this late date to file a petition for reconsideration nor a response to such a petition under the provisions of rule 25-22.060, Florida Administrative Code.

FIPUG also asked that the Commission not stay its decision pending resolution of the Public Counsel's motion.

Staff members filed a recommendation on May 25, 1989, that Public Counsel's motion for reconsideration be denied. (R-78). Interested persons were allowed to participate in the June 6, 1989 agenda conference discussion. Commissioner Gunter abstained because he had not participated in the vote on January 31, 1989. At the conclusion of the agenda discussion, the Commission voted to deny Public Counsel's motion for reconsideration of Order No. 20825. [R-92].

Order No. 21448 issued June 26, 1989 entitled: Order Denying Public Counsel's Motion for Reconsideration. [A-6]. At page 1 of that order, the Commission said Public Counsel had received a copy of TECO's petition; a copy of the agenda for January 31, 1989 with a summary of the issue to be decided; notice of the agenda conference in the Florida Administrative Weekly; and a copy of the January 11, 1989 staff recommendations but "Public Counsel elected not to provide input at the agenda conference although TECO and the Commission Staff participated in the discussion, which preceded the vote."

At page 2 of Order No. 21448, the Commission noted that TECO's attorney advised participants in the conservation docket prehearing conference that it would be resubmitting its recovery factor based on the January 31st vote in this docket. Staff had indicated it was satisfied with the resubmission which was stipulated to by all parties:

In fact, the same Assistant Public Counsel who has filed the Motion Reconsideration in the instant docket, concedes that he participated in the conservation cost recovery proceedings and entered into the stipulation, although he characterizes the stipulation as being as to "numbers only." [A-7]

The Commission stated that Public Counsel misinterpreted the Administrative Procedure Act and its applicability:

Section 120.57 is not controlling on the issue and does not entitle Public Counsel to a hearing. [A-7],

The Commission next stated that "we precisely followed the applicable law" and quoted from the Section 120.72(3) exemption to the APA for interim rate procedures under the file-and-suspend statute, Section 366.06(3), Florida Statutes. [A-7].

Order No. 20825 is characterized in Order No. 21447, at page 2, as "in a very real sense surplusage" because, under file-andsuspend, if the Commission fails to object to tariff changes within sixty days, the proposed rates automatically go into effect. [A-7]. The Commission, at page 3, said adequacy of notice is not a factor because "the action of the Commission would have occurred had no hearing whatsoever been held, since the Commission's inaction is equivalent to its consent," citing to <u>Florida</u> <u>Interconnect Telephone Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 342 So.2d 811 (Fla. 1977). [A-8].

The case of <u>Citizens v. Mayo</u>, **333** So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976), was cited for the proposition that due process concerns do not arise when the commission fails to act to suspend a tariff within the 60-day period. (A-8). The purpose of file-and-suspend was stated to be to reduce the regulatory lag inherent in a full rate case. <u>Florida Interconnect</u> was again cited for the proposition that Public Counsel was not left without recourse by the file-andsuspend statute because he could file a complaint attacking the tariff.

The Commission next stated, at page 4 of Order No. 21448, that, although its procedures complied with applicable law, Public Counsel waived any objections to procedural deficiencies because he failed to participate in the agenda conference that preceded the January 31, 1989 vote. [A-9]. The order does not disclose whether all information available before the vote and the vote itself was for a proposed agency action decision.

Two cases, <u>South Florida Regional Planning Council v. State</u>, 372 So.2d 159 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), and <u>Buraer Kina Corporation v.</u> <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 349 So.2d 210 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977), are cited for the proposition that:

Where one has actual notice of proceedings, but makes no appearance or provides no input, it waives its rights and

thus is estopped from challenging any irregularity in the proceeding. [A-91.

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