IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellants,

VS.

MICHAEL MCK. WILSON, ETC., ET AL.,
Appellees.

OCT 30 1989

ON APPEAL OF ORDERS NOS. 20825 AND 21448
IN FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
DOCKET NO. 881416-EG
PETITION OF TAMPA ELECTRIC COMPANY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, TAMPA ELECTRIC COMPANY

LEE L. WILLIS Florida Bar No. 0135074

CASE NO. 74

VIAMES D. BEASLEY Florida Bar No. 0178751

Ausley, McMullen, McGehee, Carothers and Proctor Post Office Box 391 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-9115

Attorneys for Tampa Electric Company

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The orders on appeal involve a determination by the Commission that it would be unfair for Tampa Electric to fully charge its interrupt ble and standby interruptible Customers for conservation programs which vere not calculated to receive benefits during the affected periods. Such determination, although initially made in the orders on appeal, did not cause any increase in the conservation cost receivery factor applicable to the class of Customers Public Counsel purports to represent. Instead, that change was made in the Commission's conservation cost recovery docket (Docket No. 890002-EG).

The conservation cost recovery factor increase for firm Customers was based in part not only upon Public Counsel's failure to object at the Commission Agenda Conference conducted in this docket, but also on Public Counsel's affirmative stipulation to such increase in Docket No. 890002-EG. Public Counsel actively participated in that docket and his actions invited the result which he now seeks to challenge.

Even after the issuance of a final order in Docket No. 890002-EG, Public Counsel steadfastly remained silent when he could have challenged the increase through reconsideration or by way of appeal. In short, Public Counsel has waived his right to challenge the approved change or is estopped by equitable considerations from later challenging the action of the Commission.

Public Counsel's procedural argument that public utility rates cannot change without a Commission hearing is erroneous and contrary to the holding in <u>Citizens v. Mayo</u>, 333 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976) and subsequent cases. Moreover, the Commission did not modify any industry-wide policy;

it simply addressed the particular issues raised by Tampa Electric concerning its interruptible and standby interruptible Customers.

Public Counsel further errs in his interpretation of the Commission's reference in Order No. 21448 to Public Counsel's opportunity to file a complaint regarding the modification to Tampa Electric's conservation cost recovery charges.

Public Counsel's only substantive arguments concerning the modification of Tampa Electric's conservation cost recovery factor pertain to the Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act. Public Counsel's arguments in this regard misinterpret the legislative intent of FEECA. Public Counsel's arguments place energy conservation ahead of the basic right of utility Customers not to pay for costs they do not cause. completely misinterprets the provisions in FEECA concerning discrimination against any class of Customers because of their use of four different conservation measures. none of which are involved in this proceeding.

Finally, Tampa Electric would urge the Court to recognize the equitable considerations which support a determination that Tampa Electric should not be made to suffer any loss or make any refunds even if the Court were to accept the arguments put forth by Public Counsel, Tampa Electric followed established procedures in the proceeding below and properly relied on Public Counsel's stipulation in Docket No, 890002-EG that the conservation cost reallocation was appropriate.

POINT **I**

THE PUBLIC COUNSEL WAIVED ANY OBJECTION TO ORDER NO. 20825 BY STIPULATING TO THE APPROVAL AND IMPLEMENTATION OF TAMPA ELECTRIC'S REVISED CONSERVATION COST RECOVERY FACTOR IN DOCKET NO. 890002-EG.

During the conservation cost recovery hearing conducted in Docket No. 890002-EG commencing on February 22, 1989, Public Counsel affirmatively acquiesced in the upward modification of Tampa Electric's conservation cost The reason for that upward modification was discussed recovery factor. during the earlier prehearing conference in that docket and was again addressed at the final hearing. Public Counsel participated actively in the conservation cost recovery prehearing conference and final hearing, yet raised no issue and preserved no objection to the implementation of the upward modification. Tampa Electric explained during the prehearing conference in Docket No. 890002-EG that it had modified its conservation cost recovery proposal in order to implement the Commission's approval of Tampa Electric's proposal t o exempt interruptible Customers from participation in the conservation cost recovery process.

In reliance upon Public Counsel's stipulation, the Commission approved Tampa Electric's modification of its proposed conservation cost recovery factor in Docket No. 890002-EG. Tampa Electric implemented the revised factor effective April 1, 1989. Public Counsel actively participated in the conservation cost recovery hearing which led to this modification and never raised one issue or provided any input to suggest to any party that Public Counsel did not agree that the new cost recovery factor required any further analysis by way of a public hearing before it could be appropriately applied by Tampa Electric. Thus, Public Counsel did more

than simply waive the right to object to **the** increased charge to firm Customers through inaction — he affirmatively invited that increase by way of stipulation. Tampa Electric would urge that the Court determine that Public Counsel is estopped from challenging the implementation of that to which he has stipulated.

Apparently recognizing this, Public Counsel contends in Point I of his brief that he believed his stipulation in the conservation docket was subject to an opportunity to request a hearing in Docket No. 881416-EG. Such position is entirely inconsistent with Public Counsel's traditional assertion that any increase in a conservation cost recovery factor (or for that matter, any other type of cost recovery factor) must be shown to be appropriate in advance of Commission approval and implementation of such increase by the utility.

The conservation cost recovery docket (Docket No. 890002-EG) corresponds with the Commission's fuel adjustment docket (Docket No. 890001-EI) and both dockets are considered at consolidated hearings conducted in February and August of each year. In the fuel adjustment docket the Public Counsel recently argued that the Commission cannot approve a fuel adjustment charge increase without a reasoned basis, not even a "mid-course correction" which is subject to verification at a later true-up hearing. In the instant case, the reasoned basis the Commission relied upon was the unqualified stipulation by all of the parties as to the appropriateness of Tampa Electric's upward modification in its conservation cost recovery factor proposed for use beginning on April 1, 1989.

Tampa Electric relied to its potential detriment on Public Counsel's stipulation. Had Public Counsel expressed any problem with or objection

to the increase, Tampa Electric easily could have rejustified the ncrease during the course of the February conservation cost recovery hearing

In that hearing the Commission, by approving the stipulated ncrease in Tampa Electric's conservation factor, actually incorporated by reference into that proceeding the substantive decision the Commission had previously made in Docket No. 881416-EG. Any subsequent adjustment to the costs approved or revenue collected pursuant to the conservation cost recovery docket would have to be made in that docket and not in the docket which produced the orders here on appeal. Yet, Public Counsel voiced no objection in the conservation hearing to the increased cost recovery factor but, instead, furnished an unqualified stipulation that that increase was appropriate.

Apparently recognizing this, Public Counsel contends, on page 6 of his Initial Brief, that Mr. Howe, the Assistant Public Counsel, only stipu ated to the "accuracy" of Tampa Electric's revised billing factor. Nothing said during the hearing remotely suggested that the stipulation was restricted to any type of sterile "calculation," or that Public Counsel opposed the increase in the cost recovery factor applicable to firm accounts. The only reasonable impression the Commission and Tampa Electric could have obtained from Public Counsel's stipulation was that the upward revision of the factor was substantively appropriate. After all, this was a conservation factor which would actually be charged to firm Customers of Tampa Electric for a six month period beginning April 1, 1989 -- not some hypothetical calculation having no real effect on what those Customers pay.

The increase in Tampa Electric's conservation cost recovery factor was addressed in Order No. 21317 issued in Docket No. 890002-EG on June 2,

1989. That order states, at page 4, that the parties "stipulated to the appropriate conservation cost recovery factors" for the period April 1989 through September 1989, and specifically identifies Tampa Electric's approved factor to be 0.111¢ per KWH. (A-7). This order was issued over three months after the issuance of the primary order Public Counsel here seeks to have reviewed. The later final order in the conservation cost recovery docket, Order No. 21317, incorporates by reference and implements the policy decision here challenged by Public Counsel. Yet Public Counsel did not seek reconsideration or appellate review of Order No. 21317. That order, which reaffirms the policy approved in the orders on appeal, has become final. Thus, the modification of Tampa Electric Company's conservation cost recovery factor is appropriate without regard to the arguments which Public Counsel now directs toward Order No. 20825.

On page 25 of his Initial Brief, Public Counsel claims that the content of Order No. 20825 made Public Counsel's stipulation to the accuracy of the revised factor a "nullity." Public Counsel's effort to withdraw from the stipulation he entered into at the conservation cost recovery hearing and which was confirmed in Order No. 21317 issued on June 2, 1989 is inappropriate. Any concerns which Public Counsel may have had with respect to the stipulation should have been brought to the Commission's attention on a motion to reconsider Order No. 21317 or through a timely appeal of that order. Again, it was Order No. 21317, and not the orders here appealed, which brought about the conservation cost recovery factor increase to which Public Counsel now objects. All of the concerns expressed in Public Counsel's initial brief could have been expressed during the period of time for requesting reconsideration or

tak ng an appeal of Order No. 21317 which conf rmed the appropriateness of the stipulation.

The **balance** of Point **I** of Public Counsels In tial Brief involves a discussion of various cases regarding waiver, some of which were cited in Order No. 20825. None of those cases involve factual circumstances which compel a finding of waiver or estoppel like the instant case does.

POINT II

PUBLIC COUNSEL'S PROCEDURAL ARGUMENTS ARE DEFECTIVE.

A. THE EXEMPTION IN SECTION 120.73(3), FLA. STAT., AUTHORIZES THE PROCEDURE UTILIZED BY THE COMMISSION IN RENDERING THE ORDERS HERE ON APPEAL.

In its Order No. 21448, denying Public Counsel's Motion for Reconsideration, the Commission expressed the belief that its procedures utilized below is consistent not only with the Administrative Procedure Act, but also the holding of this Court in Citizens v. Mayo, supra. In that decision this Court observed that an inflexible hearing requirement does not apply to Commission proceedings inasmuch as the Commission can obviate any hearing requirement simply by failing to act. In that decision the Court said that in disposing of rate proceedings the Commission has a number of alternatives including taking no action at all, in which event the proposed rates would go into effect automatically without further action by the Commission. The Court said:

(3) The Legislature did not intend a full rate hearing before all new rate schedules become effective. Had it intended that result, there would have been no need to enact subsection 366.06(4) at all.

Public Counsel attempts to dismiss the Court's holding in Citizens v. Mayo, supra, with the statement that that case was decided under the pre-1974 Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"). However, the holding in Citizens v. Mayo, supra, and the alternatives open to the Commission in disposing of cases before it have been reaffirmed in subsequent cases under the 1974 APA. See, Citizens v. Mayo, 335 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1976); Florida Gas Company v. Hawkins, 372 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 1979). Moreover, the pre-1974 APA contained the following provision which the Court in Citizens v. Mayo, supra, did not construe to require a hearing each time a matter was decided by the Commission:

Section 120.22 Hearing Guaranteed -- Any party's legal rights, duties, privileges or immunities shall be determined only upon public hearing by an agency unless the right to public hearing is waived by the affected party, or unless otherwise provided by law. [§120.22, Fla. Stat. (1973)]

In addition, as pointed out in Point of this brief, the orders here on appeal do not bring about a rate increase for the class of firm Customers Public Counsel purports to represent. Instead, they have the effect of relieving interruptible Customers from paying for Commission approved conservation programs during a specific period. The rationale for this treatment was separately addressed and approved in Docket No. 890002-EG. Public Counsel stipulated to the resolution of that docket and did not seek reconsideration of or appeal the outcome of that case. As a consequence, the orders on appeal did not have any impact on the rates of Tampa Electric's firm Customers. Therefore, Public Counsel cannot be heard to argue that he was inappropriately denied a hearing. Public Counsel was

afforded a hearing in Docket No. 890002-EG and affirmatively elected not to oppose the conservation factor modification he now seeks to overturn.

B. PUBLIC COUNSEL WAS AFFORDED A CLEAR POINT OF ENTRY INTO THE COMMISSION'S DECISION-MAKING PROCESS.

In Part II B. of his brief, Public Counsel restates his argument that the Commission failed to provide a clear point of entry into its decision-making process. On the contrary the Commission afforded Public Counsel ample opportunity to address the concept of not charging interruptible Customers a conservation cost recovery factor in the proceeding which gave rise to the orders on appeal. More importantly, in the proceeding which actually had the effect of implementing this concept and which resulted in an increase in the conservation factor applicable to firm electrical Customers, Public Counsel not only was afforded a clear point of entry, but actively participated and stipulated to the effect which Public Counsel now challenges.

In addition, at the time the Commission entered its Order No. 21317 in the conservation cost recovery docket (Docket No. 890002-EG), Public Counsel was well aware that the Commission had exempted interruptible Customers through final agency action in Order No. 20825. Although Public Counsel now contends that his prior stipulation to the modification of Tampa Electric's conservation factor was rendered null and void, Public Counsel effort that made no t o make assertion either reconsideration of Order No. 21317 or through an appeal of that order. increase in the conservation factor applied to firm Customers thus became

fina and Public Counsel should not now be heard to challenge the effect of that in which he acquiesced.

Finally, in this section of his brief Public Counsel again fails to reco nize the options available to the Commission as clearly articulated in the series of cases beginning with <u>Citizens v. Mayo</u>, <u>supra</u>, including the observation that no inflexible hearing requirement governs changes in utility rates.

C. THE COMMISSION DID NOT MODIFY AN INDUSTRY-WIDE POLICY; INSTEAD THE COMMISSION IN ORDER NO. 20825 MADE A LIMITED DETERMINATION BASED ON THE PARTICULAR FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES AFFECTING TAMPA ELECTRIC AND ITS INTERRUPTIBLE CUSTOMERS.

In Part II C. of his argument Public Counsel contends that Order No. 20825 adopted incipient policy. This simply is erroneous.

In the proceeding below the Commission responded directly to the particular concerns expressed by Tampa Electric regarding the inappropriateness of charging a conservation cost recovery factor to Tampa Electric's interruptible and standby interruptible Customers. The company explained the basis for its request in its petition and the Commission and its Staff carefully considered that basis. Order No. 20825 fully explains the basis for the action taken by the Commission.

Public Counsel's contention that the Commission change an industry-wide policy in the proceeding below is negated by Public Counsel's own reference to what took place at the prehearing conference in the conservation cost recovery docket. In footnote 1 on page 18 of his Initial Brief, Public Counsel observes that the attorney for Occidental Chemical

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